demoer venezits Aemoorcrati

Co-operatives and Three-Dimensional Sustainability

CAROLIN SCHRÖDER

Occasional Paper Series

à autonomy participati





Co-operatives and Three-Dimensional Sustainability

CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF CO-OPERATIVES

THE CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF CO-OPERATIVES is an inter-disciplinary teaching and research institution located on the University of Saskatchewan campus in Saskatoon. Contract partners in the co-operative sector include Saskatchewan Credit Unions, Federated Co-operatives Limited, Concentra Financial, The Co-operators, and CHS Inc. The Centre is also supported by the University of Saskatchewan, which not only houses our offices but provides in-kind contributions from a number of departments and units as well as financial assistance with operations and nonsalary expenditures. We acknowledge with gratitude the ongoing support of all our sponsoring organizations.

The objectives of the centre are:

- to develop and offer university courses that provide an understanding of co-operative theory, principles, development, structures, and legislation
- to undertake original research into co-operatives
- to publish co-operative research, both that of Centre staff and of other researchers

Our publications are designed to disseminate and encourage the discussion of research conducted at, or under the auspices of, the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives. The views expressed constitute the opinions of the author, to whom any comments should be addressed.

Co-operatives and Three-Dimensional Sustainability

Carolin Schröder Centre for Technology and Society Technical University of Berlin





Copyright © 2014 Carolin Schröder

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of the publisher. In the case of photocopying or other forms of reprographic reproduction, please consult Access Copyright, the Canadian Copyright Licensing Agency, at 1–800–893–5777.

Editing, design, and layout by Nora Russell Centre for the Study of Co-operatives

15 16 17 / 3 2 1

Centre for the Study of Co-operatives
101 Diefenbaker Place
University of Saskatchewan
Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 5B8

Phone: (306) 966-8509 / Fax: (306) 966-8517

E-mail: coop.studies@usask.ca

Website: http://www.usaskstudies.coop

Contents

Introduction	1
"Co-operatives as a Collective Pursuit of Sustainability"	2
The Economic Sustainability of Co-operatives	3
The Social Sustainability of Co-operatives	3
The Environmental Sustainability of Co-operatives	4
Three-Dimensional Co-operatives and Multi-Level Sustainability	4
Sustainability and Complexity	6
Multi-Level Sustainability	8
Current Trends towards Sustainability in German Co-operatives	8
Three Current Trends	10
Economic Sustainability and German Co-operatives	11
Social Sustainability and German Co-operatives	12
Environmental Sustainability and German Co-operatives	13
Connecting the Dimensions	14
Climate Protection and Lifestyles in Co-operatives	15
Participation in Co-operatives	16
Conclusions	17
Bibliography	19
List of Publications, Centre for the Study of Co-operatives	23

Introduction

and objectives, but also contribute actively to the shaping of their local environments. And as the co-operative movement boasts a comparatively large number of supporters worldwide, they may — and this is the underlying assumption of this paper — substantially contribute to a socio-ecological transformation on the local, national, and global levels. While co-operatives offer promising conditions for an economically, socially, and ecologically sustainable future, this text argues — from an interdisciplinary perspective — that there are several empirical flaws as well as theoretical and practical challenges to the sustainability of co-operatives. This text should be perceived as a trigger for discussion on co-operatives and sustainability rather than a comprehensive analysis of specific co-operatives or sectors.

It begins with a short overview of arguments found in the literature regarding the economic, social, and environmental dimensions of sustainability in the context of co-operatives. There is an important distinction between the intra- and supra-organizational levels, as the concept of sustainability under discussion here is understood as a three-dimensional, multi-level arrangement. A later section of the paper examines the special, perhaps unique, approach to co-operatives in Germany, and details, in particular, co-operative approaches to climate protection.

"CO-OPERATIVES AS A COLLECTIVE PURSUIT OF SUSTAINABILITY"

Although economic and social viability as well as the preservation of natural resources were major reasons for establishing the first co-operatives, the founders of the (modern) co-operative movement probably did not use the term "sustainability." But since the International Co-operative Alliance's (ICA) adoption of the seven core values and principles in 1995 and even more so in the wake of 2012, the United Nations International Year of Co-operatives, "sustainability" has become a term and concept the international co-operative movement relates to explicitly.

The ICA defines sustainability as "the capacity to support, maintain or endure" by integrating environmental, economic, and social dimensions (ICA 2013, 16). Emphasizing these three elements connects them to the so-called three-pillar model used in sustainability studies and a vast literature discussing the (im)possibilities of implementing sustainability.

The co-operative literature reveals essays and case studies from different parts of the world arguing in favour of the mainly economic and social, but since the early 1990s also environmental, added values of co-operatives in many sectors, with the majority being in finance, agricultural production, and consumer services. A considerable amount of literature also questions those added values. For the sake of clarity, I will start with the positive attributions made in theory, as the reflections on practical implementation will raise problems and questions.

With the ICA's emphasis on sustainability as a "collective" pursuit, the question comes to mind what the specifics might be. While there are some connections between co-operative studies and organizational studies, there are not many references yet to participation research, to research on social movements and — what might be of specific interest in the context of sustainability — to lifestyle research. Within that line of thought, let's start off with a brief overview of aspects of economic, social, and environmental co-operative sustainability.

^{1.} International Co-operative Alliance, *Blueprint for a Co-operative Decade* (Geneva: International Co-operative Alliance, 2013), 14.

The Economic Sustainability of Co-operatives

On the organizational (micro) level, there is some empirical proof that co-operatives are more resilient in times of financial and economic crises than other forms of organization. It can also be assumed that their average stability is higher (across sectors) than that of other forms of organization under company law (Atmaca 2014; Sanchez Bajo and Roelants 2011). Owing to their specific business model rooted in the basic principles of self-help, shared objective(s), and joint and several liability, co-operatives are also being conceived as "more efficient than investor-owned businesses" (ICA 2013, 14; cp. Chevallier 2011) and less likely to face crashes and bankruptcy as they emphasize "stakeholder value" rather than "shareholder value" (Atmaca 2014). They are said to be able to embrace longer planning horizons and reduce business implementation costs.

On the local, regional, and even national and global (meso and macro economic) levels — and in consequence of the attributes mentioned above — co-operatives contribute to the stabilization of the number of businesses/SMEs and regional economies by diversifying the range of businesses and ownership forms (ICA 2013, 15; Sanchez Bajo and Roelants 2011, 111; Brockmeier 2007, 638–57); they contribute to national GDPs,² and provide employment to local communities.³

The Social Sustainability of Co-operatives

On the organizational level, co-operatives are considered to be socially sustainable, with their basic principles of participation, identity, and collective responsibility (including trust and solidarity) being major characteristics (cp. Atmaca 2014; Bonus 1994, 45–46). For their members, co-operatives address everyday needs while sharing resources, knowledge, and economic power. They are additionally assumed to integrate multiple perspectives, to facilitate co-operation and collective action, to build communities, to provide capacities for communication, training, and education, and even to reduce inequalities

- 2. According to a conservative estimate, "the aggregate turnover of co-operatives in [the ten biggest economies of the world] is [in 2008] ... just under 5 percent of the aggregate GDP of this group of countries" (Sanchez and Roelants 2011, 105).
- 3. Adding to the numbers of direct employment in co-operatives are indirect employment or self-employed activities that depend on transactions with a co-operative (Sanchez and Roelants 2011, 108).

(Gonzales 2007; Maury 2009, 1). Another specific appeal of co-operatives, often alluded to, is their successful adoption of various forms of collective decision making (cf. Hanel 1992; cf. Flieger 1996, 33).

Positive contributions beyond the organizational level might include adding to a society's social capital, offering solutions for a variety of social problems, and delivering various socio-cultural services, especially via "social co-operatives," while putting "human needs and utility ... [including physical health] ... at the centre of their organizational purpose" (ICA 2013, 14f; cp. Atmaca 2014; Valentinov 2004) to increase the empowerment of marginalized groups as well as to stabilize local communities and environments (Gonzales 2007). While there is substantial proof that co-operatives contribute to education, further assumptions are that the co-operative movement facilitates or even actively supports solidarity and identity and allows for a comparatively broad civic involvement in local and regional decision-making processes and local communities by creating links between producers, distributors, and customers, among co-operatives, and with other public and private sector organizations.

The Environmental Sustainability of Co-operatives

The preservation of natural resources is not new to co-operatives either. On the organizational level, it can be conceived as the careful management of soil/land, water, air, trees, and livestock in order to run a collective business; on the supra-organizational level, it provides a basis for the maintenance of health and welfare of human beings. The preservation of natural resources has been a major issue in the agricultural, forestry, and fishery sectors. But only since the 1990s have publications described and analyzed the environmental aspects of co-operatives, conceiving the preservation of nature and the stabilization of biodiversity as values in themselves (Saxena 1995). Today, one can find a large number of case studies on the environmental sustainability of co-operatives.

Three-Dimensional Co-operatives and Multi-Level Sustainability

A comparatively small number of publications has provided explicit connections between co-operatives and the term "sustainability," despite the fact that there are

4. Saxena stated in 1995 that "on the whole, however, it seems true to say that co-operative movements are generally apathetic to … the subject of saving [the] environment" (77).

many interesting examples of this to be found all over the world. Nonetheless, the business reports of individual co-operatives as well as the *World Co-operative Monitor* provide substantial proof of the economic sustainability of co-operatives. Some co-operatives voluntarily publish reports on social and/or environmental sustainability or use standardized sustainability scorecards.⁵

As indicated, publications on the issue are far from comprehensive. One problem is that each dimension may encompass many different aspects, and this makes it difficult to grasp even one of the economic, social, and environmental dimensions. There is a vast literature for each of the three dimensions, which in addition are embedded in different academic disciplines, discourses, and schools of thought — for example, the solidarity economy, the green economy, community development, regional development, and growth and postgrowth studies.⁶

What makes it difficult to implement either economic, social, or environmental sustainability is the fact that criteria for most aspects of it are not always clear, and in many — if not most — cases cannot be measured in numbers. Some things, of course, can be counted quite easily — economic aspects such as GDP and market share, employment numbers and ratios, the percentage of women in boards, the amount invested in green or social projects, the number of projects supported, and the number of members using each product. Other things are more difficult to assess — for example, the longevity of co-operatives, collective wealth, the capacity to innovate or adapt to change (cp. Sanchez and Roelants 2011, 109). And even trickier to measure are indicators for elements such as effective participation in co-operatives, social capital (and which form of it), community engagement and inclusion or exclusion, and (different concepts of) justice and equality. On a more abstract level, one could ask which human relations are assumed and why, and which timespans are to be covered while speaking of long(er)-term outcomes (cp. Tainter 2000).

Adding to these assessment problems is the fact that co-operatives may not be ready or willing to give insight into basic environmental and social indicators such as resource

- 5. Quarter et al. 2007.
- 6. The fact that co-operatives, with their multiple dimensions of values and principles, are highly values based (as is sustainability) doesn't make it easier.
- 7. See http://www.cooperativedifference.coop/assets/files/Atlantic_Cluster/Project_A1_/Scorecard_Pamphlet_Draft_3.pdf, http://seward.coop/coop/scorecard, and http://www.corporateknights.com/wp-content/reports/2014_Sustainable_Co-ops.pdf. Accessed 11 November 2014.
- 8. Sanchez and Roelants (2011) indicate that there are some studies on the longevity of co-operatives, and comparative data on the length of residency in German housing co-operatives exists as well (Atmaca 2014).

productivity, employee turnover, and workplace injuries (Quarter et al. 2014). An additional issue is the absence of national or international co-operative frameworks for disclosure/transparency (Tainter 2000).

Sustainability and Complexity

These challenges, including the lack of transparency, are not a problem specific to co-operatives but to sustainability research in general. For one thing, discussions on both co-operatives and sustainability are to a great extent value-based; for another, the lack of empirical data beyond singular case studies to prove the positive contributions co-operatives make to sustainability (ICA 2013, 18), especially regarding the social and environmental dimensions, reinforces the tendency to mix singular experience with overall assumptions. This is echoed by the fact that one can find little empirical evidence on the three dimensions within co-operatives, and there are also few writings on the concept of sustainability in the co-operative context.

With these questions and challenges in mind, one still has to state that the above-mentioned aspects of co-operative economic, social, and environmental sustainability are only one-dimensional. According to established academic discourses and the self-concept of the co-operative movement, achieving sustainability means nothing less than integrating these dimensions within both individual co-operatives and the co-operative movement as a whole, as part of global society, i.e., within multi-level arrangements. This adds considerably to the complexity of any transition process towards more sustainability (cp. Espinosa and Porter 2011; Harris 2007). It also indicates why the distinction between internal and external aspects may be important.

One major challenge for every co-operative aiming for (more) sustainability lies in the reasonable and sensitive combination of two or three dimensions. In this context, special attention must be paid to the fact that sustainability objectives might not simply add up in a positive way; there may be multiplying, overlapping, reversing, or rebound effects as well.

Although this might sound too complicated to achieve, many co-operatives already successfully integrate two or more dimensions. The integration of *economic and social*

^{9.} An exception is — according to the report mentioned in footnote 7 — the Canadian Co-operative Association's framework to improve environmental performance.

dimensions, for example, is inherent in the co-operative movement. This starts with the equitable sharing of costs and benefits (economic democracy), the "luxury of growing slowly, [with a focus] on long-term thinking," and results in frequent co-operative activity in sectors with low rates of return on capital and slower growth at the organizational level. This may lead to less exploitation, better access to and better quality of goods and services, and thus less daily struggle among members for income, housing, food, etc. (cp. ICA 2013, 14). At the macro level, one can find a prominent example of the economic and social dimensions of co-operative sustainability in the fight for humane working and living conditions that shaped the public perception of co-operatives most prominently in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. More recent examples include financial services for lower-income households and socially responsible investment products. ¹²

Similarly, on the national and global levels, examples of *economic and environmental dimensions* are present mainly in the context of discussions on "greening economies," green investments, and "post-growth societies" (Elsen 2014). They relate to the assumption that a reduced need for short-term financing of products and services allows for more environmentally sensitive investments, better protection of natural resources and livelihoods (cp. ICA 2013, 14), and more resource-sensitive production, distribution, and consumption. A large number of implementations and case studies provide evidence, for example, of green investment options from the co-operative financial sector, the financing of environmental projects, numerous green co-operative businesses worldwide, and the creation of regional value chains.

One line of argument linking the *social and environmental dimensions* of co-operative sustainability draws on the assumption that as participatory organizations — with less pressure for short-term financing — co-operatives tend to take decisions that are much more socially and environmentally inclusive (cp. ICA 2013, 16). Another assumes that multi-stakeholder co-operatives are particularly good at increasing the capacity of their businesses to, for example,

See http://www.corporateknights.com/wp-content/reports/2014_Sustainable_Co-ops.pdf. Accessed 11 November 2014.

^{11.} Missing out on the environmental dimension, UN Secretary General Ban Ki-moon stated in his opening remarks launching the United Nations 2012 International Year of Co-operatives that "co-operatives are a reminder to the international community that it is possible to pursue both economic viability and social responsibility."

^{12.} See http://www.corporateknights.com/wp-content/reports/2014_Sustainable_Co-ops.pdf. Accessed 11 November 2014.

reduce resource consumption, common ecological property, and emissions (including rebound effects) (ICA 2013, 16; Schröder and Walk 2013). Some efforts to include these improvements into business reports are already underway.¹³

Multi-Level Sustainability

A third goal for co-operative sustainability would be to achieve multi-level integration within one or several dimensions, i.e., within a co-operative sector, a network of co-operatives, or a network of various stakeholders. The picture gets even more diverse when looking at the global movement. Discussions on achieving sustainability at different levels should be led by the co-operative movement's apex organizations. This becomes even more urgent when looking at the ICA's statement in the *Blueprint for a Co-operative Decade* that despite the assumed close links between co-operatives and sustainability, "at present, sustainability is [not] ... a term that is universally associated with co-operatives" (ICA 2013: 18).

The next section illustrates some assumptions and challenges to integrating several dimensions and levels of sustainability into co-ops by taking a look at recent developments in the German co-operative sector; the context is co-operative approaches to climate protection. The comments are far from comprehensive; that would be a matter beyond the scope of this paper. There are also other reasons, which will arise as we proceed.

CURRENT TRENDS TOWARDS SUSTAINABILITY IN GERMAN CO-OPERATIVES

Climate protection can be seen as a three-dimensional challenge on different levels. While the focus has been on the national and global levels for a considerable time, local levels have also come to attention. Climate change is a major challenge affecting most global, national, and local economies, societies, and natural resources in various ways. But climate-related research on lifestyles and consumption, so far, has drawn primarily upon findings from environmental sociology and environmental psychology (Spaargaren and Mol 2008), which focus on individuals and neglect ecologically ambivalent "patchwork" lifestyles

^{13. &}quot;The World Co-operative Monitor,... is looking to expand its data collection into others areas, including social and environmental reporting." See http://www.corporateknights.com/wp-content/reports/2014_ Sustainable_Co-ops.pdf. Accessed 11 November 2014.

(Reusswig 1994). But Adger (2001, 1) assumes that collective action for local climate protection is one of the essential, as-yet-unexploited capacities of human societies.

And that's where co-operatives come into play. On the local level, they address everyday needs and have the potential to promote new, more sustainable behavioural and social patterns of action for individuals, civil society, policy makers, and economic actors. They can do so by providing information, communication, and education on various social, cultural, ecological, and economic issues, by allowing for the greatest possible involvement of their members in decision making, and by bringing together resources both material and otherwise to assist in implementing sustainable projects. On the national and global levels, the large number of co-op members and their organizations can contribute considerably to climate protection by collectively reducing CO₂ emissions and resource consumption, by developing and promoting innovative approaches to sustainable lifestyles, and by acting as role models.

In Germany, as in other countries, the first co-operative-like structures evolved within the agrarian sector and became especially popular in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. But unlike England and France, where early socialists such as Richard Owen and Charles Fourier were instrumental in the development of the co-operative sector, the early twentieth century co-operative movement in Germany grew increasingly apart from the workers' movement — except for the housing and consumption co-op sectors (Vogt 2011). The most important spokespeople in Germany were neither peasants nor workers, but members of the educated classes: Friedrich Wilhelm Raiffeisen, who was active in the poverty-stricken Eifel region as a young mayor and founded rural credit unions, acting according to a Christian-conservative notion of caring; and Franz Hermann Schulze-Delitzsch, who was a left-liberal politician and co-founder of the "Deutsche Fortschrittspartei" (German Progress Party; Hardtwig 2009).

The image of co-operatives in Germany is somewhat blurred, due to restrictive co-operative laws implemented during fascist and GDR (German Democratic Republic) times, a general opposition to co-operatives as a leftist project, and a major scandal in the co-op sector in the 1980s. In addition, research on co-operatives is limited to legal and economic studies. For a short time, during the 1970s and 1980s, producer co-operatives became popular in the context of the alternative environmental movement (Atmaca 2014). Nonetheless, there is a considerable number, especially of housing and producer co-operatives, in both East and West Germany that date back well into the nineteenth century. After World War II, between 1950

and 1970, the number of registered co-operatives in Germany declined by almost a third (from more than 26,000 down to about 18,500), and in the three subsequent decades by another 50 percent (with only 9,500 registered co-operatives by the end of 1999, and a mere 7,500 since 2006; Stappel 2009). This can be explained in part by the concentration process in the financial co-op sector, but in addition, many co-operatives from all sectors have been converted into non–co-operative forms of organization.

Three Current Trends

German co-operatives are currently both increasing and decreasing. On the one hand, there have been constant mergers and consolidations, especially in the credit sector (DZ Bank Research 2012; Table 1). On the other hand, there are a growing number of newly founded co-operatives. There are three reasons for this. *First,* in times of economic and social transformation, the idea of the co-operative model is gaining in significance worldwide due to the values ascribed to it. The consequences of a decade of privatizations and a growing mistrust of the capitalist economy led to widespread discussions about access to resources, quality of life, as well as the solidarity economy, eco-social transformation, the role of politics and civil society. The recent co-operative boom in Germany, especially in the energy and housing sectors, may be interpreted as a first reaction to this. Even more significant is the fact that some of them intend to make an explicit collective contribution to sustainability.

A second impulse that boosted the growth of co-operatives at approximately the same time was triggered by the energy transition. Recent years have seen the founding of more than five hundred energy co-operatives with some eighty thousand members, who have so far invested around €800 million in renewable energy (Keßler 2013 and Klemisch 2014, quoted in Walk and Schröder 2013). Along with associations and private partnerships, it was primarily the co-operatives that demonstrated the possibility of a different business model in this sector, by taking over electricity grids, for example, and creating systems of community self-sufficiency and bio-energy villages.

And *third*, the 2012 United Nations International Year of Co-operatives and the current decade of co-operatives (2011–2020) have significantly added to the publicity for and self-confidence of co-ops. The boom is reflected in both an increasing number of scientific articles and media reports as well as in the above-mentioned growth in various sectors.

Table 1: Total numbers of co-operative businesses in Germany, 1980–2011

Number of Businesses	1980	1990	2000	2010	2011
Co-operative banks a. Credit co-operatives	4,267 4,246	3,055 3,037	1,813 1,794	1,156 1,138	1,139 1,121
b. Co-operative central banksc. Special affiliated co-operative		4 14	4 15	2 16	2 16
Rural co-operatives	5,228	3,725	3,815	2,480	2,413
a. Primary co-operatives*/**	5,168	3,672	3,780	2,474	2,407
b. Head offices ***	60	53	35	6	6
Industrial co-operatives*	875	787	1,422	2,018	2,338
a. Primary co-operatives	856	772	1,410	2,009	2,329
b. Head offices	19	15	12	9	9
Consumers' co-operatives	94	30	53	33	31
a. Primary co-operatives	55	28	51	32	30
b. Head offices	39	2	2	1	1
Housing co-operatives	1,217	1,172	1,991	1,931	1,921
a. Primary co-operatives	1,217	1,172	1,991	1,931	1,921
b. Head offices	-	-	-	-	-
Total	11,681	8,769	9,094	7,618	7,842
Members in Thousands					
a. Co-operative banks	9,105	11,421	15,039	16,689	17,002
b. Rural co-operatives*/**	1,555	1,205	922	563	550
c. Industrial co-operatives*	337	257	255	315	407
d. Consumers' co-operatives	665	600	825	355	350
e. Housing co-operatives	1,613	1,724	3,033	2,822	2,846
Total	13,275	15,207	20,074	20,744	21,155

^{*} Water, electricity, and refrigerated glass-house co-operatives listed as rural co-operatives until 2008 have been listed as industrial co-operatives since 2009. The bioenergy, forestry, and timber co-operatives that were in part listed as industrial co-operatives until 2008 have been listed as rural co-operatives since 2009.

Source: Slightly modified representation of DZ Bank Research, "Die deutschen Genossenschaften 2012. Entwicklungen-Meinungen-Zahlen," (Wiesbaden: Deutscher Genossenschafts-Verlag eG, 2012), 40.

Economic Sustainability and German Co-operatives

Despite declining absolute figures, registered co-operatives in Germany still have more members than any other form of organization (some 20.5 million out of 80 million inhabitants). Almost every farmer is a member of at least one co-operative; more than 90 percent of all bakers and butchers, an average of 60 percent of all craftsmen, and an average of 75 percent of all retailers are still organized in co-operatives. While the co-op financial

^{**} Excluding credit co-operatives with transactions in commodities; including agricultural co-operatives.

^{***} Since 2006, only main co-operatives.

sector has the largest number of members, housing co-operatives come in second place, with almost 3 million members and 2.2 million units to take care of — a good 10 percent of the national housing market. Although these figures demonstrate quite clearly the economic sustainability of the co-operative sector in Germany, the number of new co-operatives remains small, with just sixty newly registered co-ops in 2003 (seventy-four in 2006), compared to more than five hundred thousand new businesses registered in total (Atmaca 2007). And even the small co-operative boom doesn't show in numbers as other co-operatives are merging or being liquidated at the same time.

Beyond the business reports of specific co-operatives and the data provided in Table 1, above, it is not yet possible to provide comprehensive information on economic sustainability as data is missing regarding sector, size, and forms of co-operatives; even the number of new and liquidated co-operatives per sector, province, and size is lacking (DZ Bank 2012, 5). Nonetheless, in the aftermath of the 2007–08 economic crisis, the co-operative presence in the media has grown as they are increasingly being seen as a viable counter-strategy to the privatization of municipal enterprises. But surprisingly, when it comes to counselling on start-ups, very few institutions are providing information on co-op development. Even German trade unions offer little information on and support for co-operative forms of organization (Vogt 2011).

Social Sustainability and German Co-operatives

By 2013, the range of German co-operative activities had spread to an extent that made it difficult to generalize even at the national level. And while expectations for social co-operatives were quite optimistic in the early 2000s (Alscher and Priller 2007), not much attention has been paid to them until recently — there aren't even specific laws for social co-operatives. One exception was the national programme on social cities — the Bund-Länder-Programm "Soziale Stadt," 1999 to 2012 — which actively supported the founding of so-called neighbourhood, i.e., multi-stakeholder, co-operatives. As they offered mainly low-paid jobs and services such as janitors, gardeners, and cleaners, the large majority went bankrupt after a couple of years. Beginning in 2000, there were twenty initiatives for such co-operatives, but in 2013 only five still existed.

While there is some quantitative and qualitative data on the economic aspects of co-operatives, the social sciences have so far largely neglected this organizational model. There are

hardly any qualitative studies concerning the social aspects of co-operatives or their activities, specifically the solidarity-oriented and participative structures (Schröder 2014), and with the exception of Zimmer (2009) and Münkner and Ringle (2010) their relations to local communities have not been researched at all. In addition, no data is available regarding social structures within co-operatives or on how many co-ops are legally non-profits (DZ Bank 2012, 5). Nonetheless, most recent public discussions describe co-operatives as problem solvers for a large variety of societal challenges, which has overloaded this form of organization with idealistic ideas and frequently suggested it as a substitute for public agencies. Stakeholders sympathetic to the co-operative movement, as well as some of the literature, point out that one of the major assets of co-operatives is that they are based on the notion of solidarity (Vogt 2011). But an even larger number of stakeholders — mainly economists — argue repeatedly that co-operatives are mainly obliged to the interests of their members — to economic self-help — and not to a common welfare, however defined.

Environmental Sustainability and German Co-operatives

During the 1990s, many LA21 activities ¹⁴ were implemented in German municipalities; they dealt primarily with issues of greening communities, sustainable mobility, housing, and fair trade. Recently, climate protection activities have soared as the majority of municipalities and towns have committed themselves to this issue. Housing and energy cooperatives are the most active regarding aspects of both environment and climate protection. As mentioned above, with 3 million members (out of just over 20 million co-op members altogether) and approximately 10 percent of the total housing stock in Germany, the co-operative housing sector is significant. According to Atmaca (2014), this can be explained by the fact that housing co-operatives implement more measures to increase energy efficiency than any other type of public housing organization. It is in the interest of the members to invest money in the renovation of their houses as they are both owners and users of the flats (cp. Sanchez and Roelants 2011, 107; Chevallier 2011, 37).

Between 2010 and 2012, 23 percent of all new co-ops were founded in the energy sector, operating local or regional solar plants, wind farms, and bioenergy plants (Pollich 2009). ¹⁵

^{14.} Local Agenda 21 (LA21) was promoted by the United Nations to deliver sustainable development at the local government level.

^{15.} Volz (2010) indicates that there were one or two new formations of energy co-operatives per month in 2010, and around seventy new formations for the years 2000–2008 in Germany.

Although concern for the environment certainly plays a role in some rural areas — most prominently in the so-called bio-energy villages, which aim at 100 percent local renewable energy — some experts assume that legal and political aspects, particularly feed-in tariffs, play a more important role in the decision to found an energy co-operative (Flieger 2011).

When looking at the environment-related objectives of the German co-operative movement, a distinction should be made between "traditional" (before 2006) and "new" (after 2006), as only since 2006 does co-operative law allow for cultural and environmental objectives (Atmaca 2014). Today, one can find a small but growing number of new (and rather small) co-operatives in the energy/water, housing/construction, consumption, and mobility sectors that refer explicitly to sustainability and even more specifically to climate protection (Schröder and Walk 2013).

Connecting the Dimensions

While there is a considerable economic dimension to German co-operatives, and recently an environmental one, too, the dimension of social sustainability — beyond job creation — seems quite limited. There have been almost no systematic efforts to acknowledge the social or environmental dimensions, especially in the financial sector: The largest and oldest co-operative bank in Germany, for example, only began publicly advertising the fact that it was a co-operative in 2011, and announced in May 2013 that it had finally stopped participating in global food speculation.¹⁶

Despite the large number of members and the recent small boom, co-operatives as a form of organization are surprisingly unknown and the majority of the older co-operatives would rather not emphasize the fact that they are different from other businesses. Only recently, in the context of discussions about taking the energy and water sectors back under municipal control, did the idea of co-operatives come to the public mind, even in larger cities such as Hamburg and Berlin.

Interestingly, most new co-operatives aim to integrate all three dimensions. The problem is that most of them, especially in the housing, mobility, and consumer sectors, are quite small, with sometimes only twenty-plus members; their boards are usually not paid and they have limited resources. This leaves them struggling with their day-to-day existence, with little time left for networking and lobbying.

16. See http://www.zeit.de/wirtschaft/unternehmen/2013-05/DZ-Bank-keine-Nahrungsmittelspekulation.

Climate Protection and Lifestyles in Co-operatives

During our research,¹⁷ it became evident that connecting climate protection topics and the social dimension is difficult for co-operatives as the potential benefits and challenges have yet to be discussed. For example, it is a significant challenge for co-operatives to come up with ideas on how to make climate-relevant daily routines — e.g., the individual buying and using of electrical devices — more sustainable. Another challenge is to include people with low or limited incomes. As difficult as this proves to be in research on sustainability in general, there are even fewer practical examples and research results when it comes to co-operatives and climate change.

The list below of technical, socio-cultural, and political approaches to climate protection by co-operatives is intended as a catalyst for discussion.

- Technical approaches: increasing resource efficiency (energy consumption, waste production, transport); using energy-efficient devices (refrigerators, heaters, printers, washing machines, etc.); sharing devices; recycling; implementing new technologies; product quality control; reducing noise production and unnecessary light emissions; energy-efficient retrofitting; reducing the use of pesticides; responsible accounting; climate or carbon footprints; sustainable production and logistics; use of renewable energies; glass plates for freezers, etc.
- Socio-cultural approaches: providing fresh, organic, regional products; communication; participation; (mutual) education; work groups; supporting members / explaining technologies via facilitators, games, swapping, bartering, sharing, etc.; mobility helpdesks; energy competitions, games, transparency regarding value chains etc.; sustainable management practices; innovations in accounting such as "social return on investment," "social impact reporting," social auditing, etc.
- *Political approaches:* transgressing co-op's organizational boundaries; lobbying; networking; role-models; membership in local, regional, national, or global alliances (climate protection, fair trade, etc.); co-operation with other co-operatives or NGOs; membership in a local-to-global climate environmental alliance; public advocacy on sustainability; facilitation and support for inter–co-operative co-operation, etc.

Sources: Schröder and Walk 2014; Scharp and Bergner 2006; ICA 2013.

17. The research project, titled "Solidarische Stadt," on co-operatives and their (potential) roles in climate protection, ran from 2010 to 2013 and was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research.

Participation in Co-operatives

Regarding the collective aspect of co-operatives inherent in the ICA's definition of sustainability, there are two ways to integrate sustainability and climate protection in co-ops. The first is the introduction of such topics and measures by the board, the other, by its members.

According to findings from our research project, the facilitation of member participation is one of the major preconditions for raising awareness of sustainability issues and implementing sustainable projects. Relying on the assumption that member participation is inherent to the co-operative model does not help make the co-operative movement more sustainable. The degrees and forms of participation vary. Paradoxically, members of German co-operatives regard participation as a great co-operative advantage, but then fail to participate. In fact, often only a minority of members exercise their democratic rights (von Blanckenburg 2014; cp. Saxena 1995). This is true at least for Germany, where the numbers of participants in annual meetings are, on average, significantly lower than voter turnout at local and national elections, and much lower than participation in EU elections.

Lack of time is what seems to prevent members from participating in most cases (von Blanckenburg 2014). In consequence, the development of opinions and decision making in German co-operatives — two core elements of participation — are frequently concentrated in the board of directors. According to the research findings, issues such as climate protection and the implementation of climate protection measures have been introduced to co-operatives mainly through their boards (cf. von Blanckenburg 2014). Exceptions are co-operatives that are committed explicitly to climate protection (i.e., with climate protection embedded in their rules), where most members are already aware of the issue before joining. These co-ops involve their members in opinion making to an extent that goes beyond the mandatory general assembly of larger co-operatives, setting up working groups and offering workshops, for example. In many cases, the members organize these events themselves, providing the co-op with a large pool of expertise and consequently demanding that their ideas

^{18.} This may differ from the assumption in the *Blueprint for a Co-op Decade* that participation and sustainability are two equally important, but not necessarily codependent, aspects within the co-operative movement (ICA 2013).

and concepts be integrated into the organization's management. Regrettably, there are fewer than ten such co-operatives in Germany at the moment.

On the downside, members may feel stressed, misunderstood, or not taken seriously if the board does not offer them the resources to implement their ideas. As in other organizations, there are informal power structures in co-operatives. Since power is often concentrated in the board — especially in larger co-operatives — proximity to the board of directors is an important prerequisite for exerting influence. This is usually done by particularly committed members, groups of committed members, and frequently founding members. On the other hand, boards seek consultants within, but increasingly also outside, the co-operative — and hence outside the participative structures of the co-op. This is why the power of working groups is often regarded as ineffective (cf. von Blanckenburg 2014).

On the supra-organizational level, the German co-operative federations are not very supportive either, their range of education being limited to core economic topics such as human resources, management, and accounting. And only a handful of external counsellors provide information and support for specific sectors — housing and energy, for example — not to mention educational institutions such as schools, universities, or vocational schools.¹⁹

The German co-operative movement seems to be challenged in another way as well: other co-operatives are seen mainly as parallel organizations, especially within the same sector, and there are as yet few examples of co-operation between co-operatives; exceptions are the housing co-operatives in Duisburg. And again, the co-operative federation provides mainly structural, legal, and economic advice and makes few efforts to lobby publicly for the co-operative idea in general.

Conclusions

While the German co-operative movement is in many respects different from those in other countries, its case provides good insight into the diversity and complexity of the current co-op landscape. Dealing with that diversity and complexity is one of the major challenges for the global co-op movement when it comes to implementing sustainability.

19. The 2006 and 2013 amendments to the German Co-operative Act resulted in easier founding procedures for co-operatives with social, environmental, and cultural objectives. To what extent the amendments have contributed or will contribute to the support issue is disputed among experts and likely differs from sector to sector (cf. DZ Bank Research 2012).

There are opportunities for numerous approaches to sustainability through varieties of membership structure, within different sectors, with different sets and combinations of measures (technical, political, socio-cultural), and with differing scopes (neighbourhood, municipality, region). In fact, specific measures have even proven to have different success levels in different municipalities and socio-cultural contexts. It is thus difficult if not impossible to provide standardized recommendations for a co-operative transition towards sustainability.

Crucial for such a transition with a member-based organization is raising awareness of sustainability issues. This happens best via communication and participation among members, but also between members and boards; this may provide a basis for a broader acceptance of measures and also for individual engagement. In any case, it should be asked how and to what extent sustainability can be connected to the objectives of the co-operative and its members' interests.

While some sectors are more likely to be associated with implementing specific dimensions and forms of sustainability — for example, agriculture, housing, mobility, and energy — a transition to some form of sustainability can be achieved in any co-operative sector.

The participatory structures of co-operatives open up possibilities for sustainable activities that stand out from those of other business forms. Provided the members agree, co-operatives could, in fact, invest in sustainability, even if it lowered the company's profits.

And with a trend towards smaller co-operatives, one can imagine an even larger variety of locally adapted co-ops. ²² This may provide for an even more diversified set of ideas for transitions to sustainability.

A major challenge that has not been mentioned is the question how and to what extent increased sustainability is connected to the distribution of natural and financial resources. This touches upon questions of (climate) justice and fairness and the management and distribution of local (material and immaterial) resources. Nonetheless, involvement in collective structures such as co-operatives offers a practical opportunity to break down global problems into collective and local ones.

- 20. Including numbers, ages, skills and expertise, self-conceptions, etc.
- 21. This includes the specifics of a certain co-operative sector and its regional or national status regarding legal frameworks, economic and political cultures, and potential partners in the private economy, civil society, and public administration.
- 22. Described as the "new localism" of sustainable development (cf. Bulkeley and Kern 2006; Collier and Löfstedt 1997).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adger, N.W. 2001. *Social Capital and Climate Change*. Tyndall Centre Working Paper 8. Norwich: University of East Anglia.
- Alscher, Mareike, and Eckhard Priller. 2007. Zu Neugründungen von Genossenschaften in Deutschland 2000–2006: eine Analyse zu den Ressourcen und Potentialen. Berlin: Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung.
- Atmaca, Delal. 2014. "Genossenschaften in Zeiten raschen Wandels Chancen einer nachhaltigen Organizationsform." In *Genossenschaften und Klimaschutz: Akteure für zukunftsfähige solidarische Städte*, hrsg. Carolin Schröder und Heike Walk. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag.
- ——. 2007. "Produktivgenossenschaften zwischen Utopie und Realismus." In *Volkswirtschaftliche Theorie der Kooperation in Genossenschaften*, hrsg. Thomas Brockmeier. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht.
- Birchall, Johnston. 2011. "A 'Member-Owned Business' Approach to the Classification of Co-operatives and Mutuals." *Journal of Co-operative Studies* 44, no. 2 (August): 4–15.
- Bonus, Holger. 1994. Das Selbstverständnis moderner Genossenschaften: Rückbindung von Kreditgenossenschaften an ihre Mitglieder. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.
- Borzaga, Carlo, Sara Depedri, and Ermanno Tortia. 2011. "Organizational Variety in Market Economies and the Role of Co-operative and Social Enterprises: A Plea for Economic Pluralism." *Journal of Co-operative Studies* 44, no. 1 (April): 19–30.
- Brockmeier, Thomas, hrsg. 2007. Volkswirtschaftliche Theorie der Kooperation in Genossenschaften. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht.
- Bulkeley, Harriet, and and Kristine Kern. 2006. "Local Government and the Governing of Climate Change in Germany and the UK." *Urban Studies* 43, no. 12 (November): 2237–59.
- Chevallier, Marius. 2011. "The Co-operatives Sources of Efficiency: A Catalyst for the Emergence of Stable and Localised Norms." *Journal of Co-operative Studies* 44, no. 1 (April): 31–40.

- Collier, U., and R.E. Löfstedt, eds. 1997. *Cases in Climate Change Policy: Political Reality in the European Union*. London: Earthscan.
- Deutscher Bundestag. 2012. "Reformbedarf für Genossenschaften." Antwort der Bundesregierung auf die Kleine Anfrage der Abgeordneten Johanna Voß, Dr. Barbara Höll, Heidrun Bluhm, weiterer Abgeordneter und der Fraktion DIE LINKE. Drucksache 17/10654. Http://dipbt.bundestag.de/dip21/btd/17/106/1710654.pdf.
- DZ Research. 2012. "Die deutschen Genossenschaften 2012: Entwicklungen Meinungen Zahlen," Wiesbaden: Deutscher Genossenschafts-Verlag eG.
- Elsen, Susanne. 2014. "Genossenschaften als transformative Kräfte auf dem Weg in die Postwachstumsgesellschaft." In *Genossenschaften und Klimaschutz: Akteure für zukunftsfähige solidarische Städte*, hrsg. Carolin Schröder und Heike Walk. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag.
- Espinosa, A., and T. Porter. 2011. "Sustainability, Complexity and Learning: Insights from Complex Systems Approaches." *The Learning Organization* 18, no. 1: 54–72.
- Flieger, Burkhart. 1996. Produktivgenossenschaft als fortschrittsfähige Organisation: Theorie, Fallstudie, Handlungshilfen. Marburg: Metropolis Verlag.
- 2011. "Energiegenossenschaften: Eine klimaverantwortliche, bürgernahe Energiewirtschaft ist möglich." In *Solidarische Ökonomie und die Gestaltung des Gemeinwesens: Perspektiven und Ansätze der ökosozialen Transformation von unten*, hrsg. Susanne Elsen. Neu-Ulm: AG-SPAK-Bücher.
- Gonzales, Vanna. 2007. "Social Enterprises, Institutional Capacity and Social Inclusion." In *The Social Economy: Building Inclusive Economies*, ed. Antonella Noya and Emma Clarence. Paris: OECD Local Economic and Employment Development (LEED) Programme.
- Hanel, Alfred. 1992. "Genossenschaftsbegriff und Genossenschaftsarten." In *Genossenschaftliche Selbsthilfe und struktureller Wandel*, hrsg. Marburg Consult für Selbsthilfeförderung eG. Marburg: Metropolis Verlag.
- Hardtwig, Wolfgang. 2009. "Genossenschaft' in der deutschen Geschichte. Wirtschaftsund Lebensformen." In *Beiträge der genossenschaftlichen Selbsthilfe zur wirtschaftlichen* und sozialen Entwicklung, hrsg. F. Rösner und F. Schulz-Nieswandt. Berlin: Lit-Verlag.
- Harris, G. 2007. *Seeking Sustainability in an Age of Complexity*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- International Co-operative Alliance. 2013. *Blueprint for a Co-operative Decade*. Geneva: International Co-operative Alliance.
- Jorgensen, Nancy. 2002. "Leveraging the Co-op Difference." *Co-operative Business Journal* (October): 7–9.
- Keßler, Jürgen. 2014: "Selbsthilfe, Selbstverwaltung und Verbandsdemokratie: zur Cooperative Governance genossenschaftlich verfasster Unternehmen." In

- Genossenschaften und Klimaschutz: Akteure für zukunftsfähige, solidarische Städte, hrsg. Carolin Schröder und Heike Walk. Springer VS.
- Klemisch, Herbert. 2014. "Energiegenossenschaften als regionale Antwort auf den Klimawandel." In *Genossenschaften und Klimaschutz: Akteure für zukunftsfähige, solidarische Städte*, hrsg. Carolin Schröder und Heike Walk.. Springer VS.
- Maury, Y. 2009. "Les coopératives d'habitants : de l'habitat insalubre et illégal à l'éco-habitat." Colloques ENS Lyon & PUCA & Habitat Humanisme, "Habitat partagé : un enjeu pour la ville durable." ENTPE, Université de Lyon, 17–18 November 2009. Http://www.habicoop.fr/IMG/pdf/COLLOQUE_Yann_Maury_nov09.pdf.
- Münkner, Hans-H., and Günther Ringle, hrsg. 2010. Neue Genossenschaften und innovative Aktionsfelder: Grundlagen und Fallstudien. Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft.
- Pollich, Florian. 2009. "Die Auswirkungen der Genossenschaftsrechtsreform von 2006 auf die Neugründungen von Genossenschaften." Arbeitspapiere des Forschungsinstituts für Genossenschaftswesen an der Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, vol. 36. Nürnberg: Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg.
- Quarter, Jack, Laurie Mook, and Betty Jane Richmond. 2014. What Counts: Social Accounting for Nonprofits and Cooperatives. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Sigel Press.
- Reusswig, F. 1994. "Lebensstile und Ökologie: Die ökologischen Folgen der modernen Lebensweise." In *Gesellschaft im Übergang: Perspektiven kritischer Soziologie*, hrsg. C. Görg. Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft.
- Sanchez Bajo, Claudia, and Bruno Roelants. 2011. *Capital and the Debt Trap: Learning from Co-operatives in the Global Crisis*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Saxena, S.K. 1995. *Co-operatives and Environment: An International Perspective*. Delhi: Pragati Publications.
- Scharp, Michael, and Anke Bergner. 2006. "Was denken Wohnungsunternehmen über das Thema Nachhaltige Wohnungswirtschaft?" In *Wohnungsmarktentwicklung Deutschland: Trends, Segmente, Instrumente*, hrsg. Guido Spars. Berlin: Technische Universität Berlin.
- Schröder, Carolin. 2014. "Neue Formen städtischer Solidarität: Das Beispiel Genossenschaften." In *Genossenschaften und Klimaschutz: Akteure für zukunftsfähige solidarische Städte*, hrsg. Carolin Schröder und Heike Walk. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag.
- Schröder, Carolin, and Heike Walk, hrsg. 2014. *Genossenschaften und Klimaschutz: Akteure für zukunftsfähige solidarische Städte*. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag.
- ——. 2013. "Local Climate Governance and the Role of Co-operatives." In *Climate Change Governance*, ed. Jörg Knieling and Walter Leal Filho. Berlin: Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.
- ——. 2014. "Die neue (und alte) Attraktivität von Genossenschaften: Eine Einführung." In *Genossenschaften und Klimaschutz: Akteure für zukunftsfähige solidarische Städte*, hrsg. Carolin Schröder und Heike Walk. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag.

- Spaargaren, Gert, and Arthur P.J. Mol. 2008. "Greening Global Consumption: Redefining Politics and Authority." *Global Environmental Change* 18, no. 3 (August): 350–59.
- Stappel, M. 2009. Die deutschen Genossenschaften 2009, Entwicklungen-Meinungen-Zahlen (Sonderthema: Nach der Krise). Wiesbaden: DG-Verlag.
- Tainter, Joseph A. 2000. "Problem Solving: Complexity, History, Sustainability." *Population and Environment: A Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies* 22, no. 1 (September): 3–41.
- Valentinov, Vladislav 2004. "Toward a Social Capital Theory of Co-operative Organization." *Journal of Co-operative Studies* 37, no. 3 (December): 5–20.
- Vogt, Walter. 2011. Genossenschaften eine andere Form des Wirtschaftens. Ein Reader der Parlamentarischen Linken in der SPD-Bundestagsfraktion. Berlin: Juni.
- Volz, R. 2010. "Stand und Entwicklungsmöglichkeiten von Bürgerenergiegenossenschaften in Deutschland." In *Aktuelle theoretische und empirische Beiträge zur Genossenschafts und Kooperationsforschung*, hrsg. R. Doluschitz. Stuttgart: Selbstverlag.
- von Blanckenburg, Christine 2014. "Genossenschaftliche Partizipationsstrukturen als Teil der besonderen Handlungsmöglichkeiten im Klimaschutz: Partizipation in Genossenschaften und im Nachhaltigkeitsdiskurs." In *Genossenschaften und Klimaschutz: Akteure für zukunftsfähige solidarische Städte*, hrsg. Carolin Schröder und Heike Walk. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag.
- Walk, Heike, and Carolin Schröder. 2013. "Opportunities and Limits of Cooperatives in Times of Socio-Ecological Transformation." In *Modernizing Democracy: Associations and Associating in the 21st Century*, ed. Matthias Freise and Thorsten Hallmann. New York: Springer.
- Wendorf, Gabriele, and Christin Wemheuer. 2014. "Wohnungsgenossenschaften als städtische Akteure im Klimaschutz." In *Genossenschaften und Klimaschutz: Akteure für zukunftsfähige solidarische Städte*, hrsg. Carolin Schröder und Heike Walk. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag.
- Zimmer, Annette. 2009. "Genossenschaften als zivilgesellschaftliche Organizationen?" In Beiträge der genossenschaftlichen Selbsthilfe zur wirtschaftlichen und sozialen Entwicklung, hrsg. F. Rösner und F. Schulz-Nieswandt. Berlin: Lit-Verlag.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF CO-OPERATIVES

Occasional Paper Series

(Occasional papers are $8\ 1/2\ x\ 11$ format; most are available free of charge on our website as well as in hard copy by request)

- 2014 Co-operatives and Three-Dimensional Sustainability. Carolin Schröder (38pp. \$15)
- 2014 Historical Retrospective on the Conversion and Multinationalization of Dakota Growers Pasta Company: A Critical Discourse Analysis. Thomas Gray, Curt Stofferahn, and Patricia C. Hipple (101pp. \$15)
- Models for Effective Credit Union Governance: Maintaining Community Connections following a Merger. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (82pp. \$15)
- The Impact of Retail Co-operative Amalgamations in Western Canada. Lou Hammond Ketilson, Roger Herman, and Dwayne Pattison (100pp. \$15)
- 2009 Financing Aboriginal Enterprise Development: The Potential of Using Co-operative Models. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (104pp. \$15)
- 2008 The Agriculture of the Middle Initiative: Premobilizing Considerations and Formal Co-operative Structure. Thomas W. Gray (54pp. \$12)
- 2007 Social Cohesion through Market Democratization: Alleviating Legitimation Deficits through Co-operation. Rob Dobrohoczki (68pp. \$10)
- 2006 Data Collection in the Co-operative Sector and Other Business Statistics in Canada and the United States. Angela Wagner and Cristine de Clercy (224pp. \$25)
- The Case of the Saint-Camille Care and Services Solidarity Co-operative and Its Impact on Social Cohesion. Geneviève Langlois, with the collaboration of Patrick De Bortoli and under the guidance of Jean-Pierre Girard and Benoît Lévesque (96pp. \$10)
- 2005 "Canada's Co-operative Province": Individualism and Mutualism in a Settler Society, 1905–2005. Brett Fairbairn (76pp. \$10)
- 2004 Negotiating Synergies: A Study in Multiparty Conflict Resolution. Marj Benson (408pp. \$35)

- 2003 Co-operatives and Farmers in the New Agriculture. Murray Fulton and Kim Sanderson (60pp. \$10)
- 2002 Conflict, Co-operation, and Culture: A Study in Multiparty Negotiations. Marj Benson (242pp. \$25)
- 2002 Adult Educators in Co-operative Development: Agents of Change. Brenda Stefanson (102pp. \$12)
- 2001 "An Educational Institute of Untold Value": The Evolution of the Co-operative College of Canada, 1953–1987. Jodi Crewe (66pp. \$10)
- 1999 The Components of Online Education: Higher Education on the Internet. Byron Henderson (78pp. \$12)
- 1998 Co-operative Organization in Rural Canada and the Agricultural Co-operative Movement in China: A Comparison. Zhu Shufang and Leonard P. Apedaile (56pp. \$10)
- 1996 Comparative Financial Performance Analysis of Canadian Co-operatives, Investor-Owned Firms, and Industry Norms. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (152pp. \$12)
- 1994 Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires: Background, Market Characteristics, and Future Development. J.T. Zinger (26pp. \$6)
- 1994 The Meaning of Rochdale: The Rochdale Pioneers and the Co-operative Principles. Brett Fairbairn (62pp. \$10)
- 1993 The Co-operative Movement: An International View. S.K. Saxena (20pp. \$6)
- 1992 Co-operatives in Principle and Practice. Anne McGillivray and Daniel Ish (144pp. \$10)
- 1992 Matador: The Co-operative Farming Tradition. George Melnyk (26pp. \$6)
- 1992 *Co-operative Development: Towards a Social Movement Perspective.* Patrick Develtere (114pp. \$15)
- 1991 The Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: A Statistical Overview. Louise Simbandumwe, Murray Fulton, and Lou Hammond Ketilson (54pp. \$6)
- 1991 Farmers, Capital, and the State in Germany, c 1860–1914. Brett Fairbairn (36pp. \$6)
- 1990 Community-Based Models of Health Care: A Bibliography. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Michael Quennell (66pp. \$8)
- 1989 Patronage Allocation, Growth, and Member Well-Being in Co-operatives. Jeff Corman and Murray Fulton (48pp. \$8)
- 1989 The Future of Worker Co-operatives in Hostile Environments: Some Reflections from Down Under. Allan Halladay and Colin Peile (94pp. \$6)
- 1988 Worker Co-operatives and Worker Ownership: Issues Affecting the Development of Worker Co-operatives in Canada. Christopher Axworthy and David Perry (100pp. \$10)
- 1988 A History of Saskatchewan Co-operative Law 1900 to 1960. Donald Mullord, Christopher Axworthy, and David Liston (66pp. \$8)

- 1988 Co-operative Organizations in Western Canada. Murray Fulton (40pp. \$7)
- 1988 Farm Interest Groups and Canadian Agricultural Policy. Barry Wilson, David Laycock, and Murray Fulton (42pp. \$8)
- 1987 Election of Directors in Saskatchewan Co-operatives: Processes and Results. Lars Apland (72pp. \$6)
- 1987 The Property of the Common: Justifying Co-operative Activity. Finn Aage Ekelund (74pp. \$6)
- 1987 Co-operative/Government Relations in Canada: Lobbying, Public Policy Development and the Changing Co-operative System. David Laycock (246pp. \$10)
- 1987 The Management of Co-operatives: A Bibliography. Lou Hammond Ketilson, Bonnie Korthuis, and Colin Boyd (144pp. \$10)
- 1987 Labour Relations in Co-operatives. Kurt Wetzel and Daniel G. Gallagher (30pp. \$6)
- 1987 Worker Co-operatives: An International Bibliography/ Coopératives de Travailleurs: Une Bibliographie Internationale. Rolland LeBrasseur, Alain Bridault, David Gallingham, Gérard Lafrenière, and Terence Zinger (76pp. \$6)
- 1986 Co-operatives and Their Employees: Towards a Harmonious Relationship. Christopher Axworthy (82pp. \$6)
- 1986 Co-operatives and Social Democracy: Elements of the Norwegian Case. Finn Aage Ekelund (42pp. \$6)
- 1986 Encouraging Democracy in Consumer and Producer Co-operatives. Stuart Bailey (124pp. \$10)
- 1986 A New Model for Producer Co-operatives in Israel. Abraham Daniel (54pp. \$6)
- 1985 Worker Co-operatives in Mondragon, the U.K., and France: Some Reflections. Christopher Axworthy (48pp. \$10)
- 1985 Employment Co-operatives: An Investment in Innovation: Proceedings of the Saskatoon Worker Co-operative Conference. Skip McCarthy, ed. (288pp. \$23)
- 1985 Prairie Populists and the Idea of Co-operation, 1910–1945. David Laycock (48pp. \$6)

Books, Research Reports, and Other Publications

Note: Research reports are available without charge on our website and on loan from our Resource Centre.

- 2014 Co-operative Canada: Empowering Communities and Sustainable Businesses ed. Brett Fairbairn and Nora Russell (6 x 9, 314pp., available from UBC Press)
- 2014 "Together We Can Do So Much": A Case Study in Building Respectful Relations in the Social Economy of Sioux Lookout. Sean Meades, Astrid Johnston, and Gayle Broad (8 1/2 x 11, 100pp., Research Report)

- 2014 Labour Market Study: A Community-Based Research Report. Prepared for Mamaweswen: The North Shore Tribal Council, Naadmaadwiiuk, Saulteaux Enterprises, and the Aboriginal Human Resources Development Agreement. Christine Sy, Gayle Broad, Natalie Waboose, and Heather Schmidt (8 1/2 x 11, 120pp., Research Report)
- 2014 Engaging Youth in Community Futures: The Rural Youth Research Internship Project.
 David Thompson and Ashleigh Sauvé (8 1/2 x 11, 58pp., Research Report)
- 2014 A Profile of Community Economic Development in Manitoba. Janielle Brooks-Smith and Brendan Reimer (8 1/2 x 11, 46pp., Research Report)
- Subverting the Local Food Economy Status Quo: The Intrinsic Relationship of Regionalized Ethics to the Practice and Discourse of Food Sovereignty. Maximilian Aulinger (8 1/2 x 11, 56pp., Research Report)
- 2014 International Students in Saskatchewan: Policies, Programs, and Perspectives. Joe Garcea and Neil Hibbert (8 1/2 x 11, 92pp., Research Report)
- Awareness of and Support for the Social Economy in Saskatoon: Opinion Leader Views. Emily Hurd and Louise Clarke (8 1/2 x 11, Research Report)
- Worker Co-operative Development in Saskatchewan: The Promise, the Problems, and the Prospects. Mitch Diamantopoulos and April Bourgeois (8 1/2 x 11, 80pp., Research Report)
- A Global Market in the Heart of Winnipeg: Measuring and Mapping the Social and Cultural Development of Food in the Central Market for Global Families. Kaeley Wiseman, Jino Distasio, and Raymond Ngarboui (8 1/2 x 11, 84pp., Research Report)
- 2014 Relying on their Own Resources: Building an Anishinaabek-Run, Sustainable Economy in the East Side Boreal Waabanong of Lake Winnipeg. Alon Weinberg (8 1/2 x 11, 40pp., Research Report)
- The Reality of the Social Economy and Its Empowering Potential for Boreal Anishinaabek Communities in Eastern Manitoba. Alon Weinberg (8 1/2 x 11, 40pp., Research Report)
- 2014 Penokean Hills Farms: Business Analysis and Stratetic Plan. Brandon Lawrence and Gayle Broad (8 1/2 x 11, 97 pp., Research Report)
- 2014 Co-operating to Build a Better West: Proceedings of a Conference Celebrating the 2012 United Nations International Year of Co-operatives. Prepared by Sugandhi del Canto and Nora Russell (8 1/2 x 11, 88pp., available on our website)
- 2013 Models for Effective Credit Union Governance: Maintaining Community Connections Following a Merger. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (8 1/2 x 11, 84pp., Research Report)
- 2013 Globalization, Social Innovation, and Co-operative Development: A Comparative Analysis of Québec and Saskatchewan from 1980 to 2010. Mitch Diamantopoulos (8 1/2 x 11, 409pp., PhD Dissertation/Research Report)

- Through the Eyes of Women: What a Co-operative Can Mean in Supporting Women during Confinement and Integration. Isobel M. Findlay, James Popham, Patrick Ince, and Sarah Takahashi (8 1/2 x 11, 114pp., Research Report)
- 2013 Health in the Communities of Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation. Julia Bidonde, Mark Brown, Catherine Leviten-Reid, and Erin Nicolas (8 1/2 x 11, 53pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Individualized Funding: A Framework for Effective Implementation. Marsha Dozar, Don Gallant, Judy Hannah, Emily Hurd, Jason Newberry, Ken Pike, and Brian Salisbury (8 1/2 x 11, 25pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Mapping Social Capital in a Network of Community Development Organizations: The South West Centre for Entrepreneurial Development Organizational Network. Jason Heit (8 1/2 x 11, 70pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Participatory Action Research: Challenges, Complications, and Opportunities. Patricia W. Elliott (8 1/2 x 11, 54pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Community-Based Regional Food Distribution Initiatives. Colin Anderson and Stéphane McLachlan (8 1/2 x 11, 12pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Sharing My Life: Building the Co-operative Movement. Harold Chapman (6 x 9, 208 pp., \$25)
- 2011 A Co-operative Dilemma: Converting Organizational Form. Edited by Jorge Sousa and Roger Herman (6 x 9, 324 pp., \$25)
- 2011 "A Place to Learn, Work, and Heal": An Evaluation of Crocus Co-operative. Julia Bidonde and Catherine Leviten-Reid (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp., Research Report)
- 2011 An Economic Analysis of Microcredit Lending. Haotao Wu (8 $1/2 \times 11$, 208pp., PhD Dissertation/Research Report)
- 2011 Empowerment through Co-operation: Disability Inclusion via Multistakeholder Co-operative Development. Kama Soles (8 1/2 x 11, 138pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- 2011 Economic Impact of Credit Unions on Rural Communities. Fortunate Mavenga (8 1/2 x 11, 133pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- Building a Federal Policy Framework and Program in Support of Community Economic Development. Kirsten Bernas and Brendan Reimer (8 1/2 x 11, 56pp., Research Report)
- Engaging Youth in Community Futures: The Rural Youth Research Internship Project.

 David Thompson and Ashleigh Sauvé (8 1/2 x 11, 56pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Understanding and Promoting Effective Partnerships for CED: A Case Study of SEED Winnipeg's Partnerships. Gaelene Askeland and Kirit Patel (8 1/2 x 11, 43pp., Research Report)
- The Management of Co-operatives: Developing a Postsecondary Course. Leezann Freed-Lobchuk, Vera Goussaert, Michael Benarroch, and Monica Juarez Adeler (8 1/2 x 11, 37pp., Research Report)
- 2011 *Co-operative Marketing Options for Organic Agriculture.* Jason Heit and Michael Gertler (8 1/2 x 11, 136pp., Research Report)

- 2011 *Mining and the Social Economy in Baker Lake, Nunavut.* Warren Bernauer (8 1/2 x 11, 32pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Enhancing and Linking Ethnocultural Organizations and Communities in Rural Manitoba: A Focus on Brandon and Steinbach. Jill Bucklaschuk and Monika Sormova (8 1/2 x 11, 68pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Community Resilience, Adaptation, and Innovation: The Case of the Social Economy in La Ronge. Kimberly Brown, Isobel M. Findlay, and Rob Dobrohoczki (8 1/2 x 11, 73pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Municipal Government Support of the Social Economy Sector. Jenny Kain, Emma Sharkey, and Robyn Webb (8 1/2 x 11, 68pp., Research Report, co-published with the BC-Alberta Social Economy Research Alliance)
- 2010 Portrait of Community Resilience of Sault Ste Marie. Jude Ortiz and Linda Savory-Gordon (8 1/2 x 11, 80pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Community-Based Planning: Engagement, Collaboration, and Meaningful Participation in the Creation of Neighbourhood Plans. Karin Kliewer (8 1/2 x 11, 72pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Eat Where You Live: Building a Social Economy of Local Food in Western Canada. Joel Novek and Cara Nichols (8 1/2 x 11, 72pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Cypress Hills Ability Centres Inc.: Exploring Alternatives. Maria Basualdo and Chipo Kangayi (8 1/2 x 11, 76pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Exploring Key Informants' Experiences with Self-Directed Funding. Nicola S. Chopin and Isobel M. Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 122pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Adult Education and the Social Economy: The Communitarian Pedagogy of Watson Thomson. Michael Chartier (8 1/2 x 11, 114pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- Self-Determination in Action: The Entrepreneurship of the Northern Saskatchewan Trappers Association Co-operative. Dwayne Pattison and Isobel M. Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp., Research Report)
- 2009 *Walking Backwards into the Future.* George Melnyk (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- South Bay Park Rangers Employment Project for Persons Living with a Disability: A Case Study in Individual Empowerment and Community Interdependence. Isobel M. Findlay, Julia Bidonde, Maria Basualdo, and Alyssa McMurtry (8 1/2 x 11, 46pp., Research Report)
- 2009 Co-operative Marketing Options for Organic Agriculture. Jason Heit and Michael Gertler (8 1/2 x 11, 136pp., Research Report)
- Enabling Policy Environments for Co-operative Development: A Comparative Experience. Monica Juarez Adeler (8 1/2 x 11, 40pp., Research Report)
- Culture, Creativity, and the Arts: Achieving Community Resilience and Sustainability through the Arts in Sault Ste. Marie. Jude Ortiz and Gayle Broad (8 $1/2 \times 11$, 133pp., Research Report)

- 2009 The Role of Co-operatives in Health Care: National and International Perspectives.

 Report of an International Health Care Conference held in Saskatoon 28 October
 2008. Prepared by Catherine Leviten-Reid (8 1/2 x 11, 24pp., available on our website)
- 2009 The Importance of Policy for Community Economic Development: A Case Study of the Manitoba Context. Brendan Reimer, Dan Simpson, Jesse Hajer, John Loxley (8 1/2 x 11, 47pp., Research Report)
- 2009 Northern Ontario Women's Economic Development Conference Report. PARO Centre for Women's Enterprise (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Evaluation of Saskatoon Urban Aboriginal Strategy. Cara Spence and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Report)
- 2008 *Urban Aboriginal Strategy Funding Database.* Karen Lynch, Cara Spence, and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 22pp., Research Report)
- Social Enterprises and the Ontario Disability Support Program: A Policy Perspective on Employing Persons with Disabilities. Gayle Broad and Madison Saunders (8 1/2 x 11, 41pp., Research Report)
- A New Vision for Saskatchewan: Changing Lives and Systems through Individualized Funding for People with Intellectual Disabilities. Karen Lynch and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 138pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Community Supported Agriculture: Putting the "Culture" Back into Agriculture.

 Miranda Mayhew, Cecilia Fernandez, and Lee-Ann Chevrette (8 1/2 x 11, 10pp.,
 Research Report)
- 2008 Algoma Central Railway: Wilderness Tourism by Rail Opportunity Study. Prepared by Malone Given Parsons Ltd. for the Coalition for Algoma Passenger Trains (8 1/2 x 11, 82pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Recovery of the Collective Memory and Projection into the Future: ASOPRICOR. Jose Reyes, Janeth Valero, and Gayle Broad (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Measuring and Mapping the Impact of Social Economy Enterprises: The Role of Co-ops in Community Population Growth. Chipo Kangayi, Rose Olfert, and Mark Partridge (8 1/2 x 11, 42pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Financing Social Enterprise: An Enterprise Perspective. Wanda Wuttunee, Martin Chicilo, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 32pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Financing Social Enterprise: A Scan of Financing Providers in the Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Northwestern Ontario Region. Wanda Wuttunee, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 39pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Government Policies towards Community Economic Development and the Social Economy in Quebec and Manitoba. John Loxley and Dan Simpson (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Growing Pains: Social Enterprise in Saskatoon's Core Neighbourhoods. Mitch Diamantopoulos and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 70pp., Research Report)

- 2008 Between Solidarity and Profit: The Agricultural Transformation Societies in Spain (1940–2000). Cándido Román Cervantes (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2006 *Co-operative Membership: Issues and Challenges.* Bill Turner (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 2006 Innovations in Co-operative Marketing and Communications. Leslie Brown (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2006 Cognitive Processes and Co-operative Business Strategy. Murray Fulton and Julie Gibbings (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Heritage: Where We've Come From. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 18pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Membership as a Complex and Dynamic Social Process. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 28pp. \$5)
- 2006 Cohesion, Adhesion, and Identities in Co-operatives. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- 2006 Revisiting the Role of Co-operative Values and Principles: Do They Act to Include or Exclude? Lou Hammond Ketilson (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Social Responsibility: A Natural Advantage? Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 2006 *Globalization and Co-operatives.* William Coleman (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 2006 Leadership and Representational Diversity. Cristine de Clercy (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- 2006 Synergy and Strategic Advantage: Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 2006 Communities under Pressure: The Role of Co-operatives and the Social Economy, synthesis report of a conference held in Ottawa, March 2006, sponsored by the Centre; PRI, Government of Canada; SSHRC; Human Resources and Social Development Canada; and the Co-operatives Secretariat (English and French, 8 1/2 x 11, 14pp., free)
- 2006 Farmers' Association Training Materials (part of the China-Canada Agriculture Development Program prepared for Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada and the Canadian International Development Agency). Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 134pp., available on our website)
- 2006 International Seminar on Legislation for Farmer Co-operatives in China: A Canadian Perspective. Daniel Ish, Bill Turner, and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 22pp., available on our website)
- Networking Diversity: Including Women and Other Under-Represented Groups in Co-operatives. Myfanwy Van Vliet (8 1/2 x 11, 24pp., Research Report)
- 2004 Living the Dream: Membership and Marketing in the Co-operative Retailing System.
 Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 288pp. \$20)
- 2004 Building a Dream: The Co-operative Retailing System in Western Canada, 1928–1988 (reprint). Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 352pp. \$20)

- 2004 Cohesion, Consumerism, and Co-operatives: Looking ahead for the Co-operative Retailing System. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2004 Co-operative Membership and Globalization: New Directions in Research and Practice.
 Brett Fairbairn and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 320pp. \$20)
- 2003 Beyond Beef and Barley: Organizational Innovation and Social Factors in Farm Diversification and Sustainability. Michael Gertler, JoAnn Jaffe, and Lenore Swystun (8 1/2 x 11, 118pp., Research Report, \$12)
- 2003 The Role of Social Cohesion in the Adoption of Innovation and Selection of Organizational Form. Roger Herman (8 1/2 x 11, 58pp., Research Report)
- 2003 Three Strategic Concepts for the Guidance of Co-operatives: Linkage, Transparency, and Cognition. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 38pp. \$5)
- 2003 The Role of Farmers in the Future Economy. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2003 Is It the End of Utopia? The Israeli Kibbutz at the Twenty-First Century. Uriel Leviatan (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2003 Up a Creek with a Paddle: Excellence in the Boardroom. Ann Hoyt (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2002 A Report on Aboriginal Co-operatives in Canada: Current Situation and Potential for Growth. L. Hammond Ketilson and I. MacPherson (8 1/2 x 11, 400pp. \$35)
- 2001 Against All Odds: Explaining the Exporting Success of the Danish Pork Co-operatives.

 Jill Hobbs (6 x 9, 40pp. \$5)
- 2001 Rural Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2001 NGCs: Resource Materials for Business Development Professionals and Agricultural Producers. (binder, 8 1/2 x 11, 104pp. \$17)
- 2001 New Generation Co-operative Development in Canada. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- New Generation Co-operatives: Key Steps in the Issuance of Securities / The Secondary Trade. Brenda Stefanson, Ian McIntosh, Dean Murrison (6 x 9, 34pp. \$5)
- 2001 New Generation Co-operatives and the Law in Saskatchewan. Chad Haaf and Brenda Stefanson (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- 2001 An Economic Impact Analysis of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: Update 1998. Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp. available on our website)
- Co-operative Development and the State: Case Studies and Analysis. Two volumes. Vol. I, pt. 1: Summary, Observations, and Conclusions about Co-operative Development; vol. I, pt. 2: Issues in Co-operative Development and Co-operative—State Relations, Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 66pp. \$8); vol. II, pt. 3: Co-operative Development and Sector—State Relations in the U.S.A., Brett Fairbairn and Laureen Gatin; vol. II, pt. 4: A Study of Co-operative Development and Government—Sector Relations in Australia, Garry Cronan and Jayo Wickremarachchi (6 x 9, 230pp. \$12)
- 2000 *Interdisciplinarity and the Transformation of the University.* Brett Fairbairn and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)

- 2000 *The CUMA Farm Machinery Co-operatives.* Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 46pp. \$5)
- 2000 Farm Machinery Co-operatives in Saskatchewan and Québec. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- Farm Machinery Co-operatives: An Idea Worth Sharing. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 2000 Canadian Co-operatives in the Year 2000: Memory, Mutual Aid, and the Millennium. Brett Fairbairn, Ian MacPherson, and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 356pp. \$22)
- 1999 Networking for Success: Strategic Alliances in the New Agriculture. Mona Holmlund and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 1999 Prairie Connections and Reflections: The History, Present, and Future of Co-operative Education. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 1999 *The SANASA Model: Co-operative Development through Micro-Finance.* Ingrid Fischer, Lloyd Hardy, Daniel Ish, and Ian MacPherson (6 x 9, 80pp. \$10)
- 1999 A Car-Sharing Co-operative in Winnipeg: Recommendations and Alternatives. David Leland (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 1998 Working Together: The Role of External Agents in the Development of Agriculture-Based Industries. Andrea Harris, Murray Fulton, Brenda Stefanson, and Don Lysyshyn (8 1/2 x 11, 184pp. \$12)
- 1998 The Social and Economic Importance of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan. Lou Hammond Ketilson, Michael Gertler, Murray Fulton, Roy Dobson, and Leslie Polsom (8 1/2 x 11, 244 pp. free)
- 1998 Proceedings of the Women in Co-operatives Forum, 7–8 November 1997, Moose Jaw, SK (8 1/2 x 11, 112pp. \$12)
- 1997 A Discussion Paper on Canadian Wheat Board Governance. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 Balancing Act: Crown Corporations in a Successful Economy. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 *A Conversation about Community Development.* Centre for the Study of Cooperatives (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 Credit Unions and Community Economic Development. Brett Fairbairn, Lou Hammond Ketilson, and Peter Krebs (6 x 9, 32pp. \$5)
- New Generation Co-operatives: Responding to Changes in Agriculture. Brenda Stefanson and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1996 Legal Responsibilities of Directors and Officers in Canadian Co-operatives. Daniel Ish and Kathleen Ring (6 x 9, 148pp. \$15)

- 1995 *Making Membership Meaningful: Participatory Democracy in Co-operatives.* The International Joint Project on Co-operative Democracy (5 1/2 x 8 1/2, 356pp. \$22)
- 1995 New Generation Co-operatives: Rebuilding Rural Economies. Brenda Stefanson, Murray Fulton, and Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 1994 Research for Action: Women in Co-operatives. Leona Theis and Lou Hammond Ketilson (8 1/2 x 11, 98pp. \$12)

To order, please contact: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives 101 Diefenbaker Place University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, SK Canada S7N 5B8

Phone: (306) 966–8509 Fax: (306) 966–8517

E-mail: coop.studies@usask.ca Website: www.usaskstudies.coop